
 

 
 
 

Standards Committee 
 
To: Councillors Bainton (Independent Member, in the Chair), 

Kirk, Horton (Vice-Chair), Hudson, Leaman (Independent 
Member) and Crawford (Parish Council Member) 
 

Date: Friday, 9 November 2007 
 

Time: 3.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall, York 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point, Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this 
agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 3 - 6) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting of the Standards 

Committee held on 28 September 2007. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak, regarding an item on the agenda 
or an issue within the remit of the Standards Committee, may do 
so.  The deadline for registering is 5:00 pm on Thursday, 8 
November 2007. 
 



 

 
4. Sixth Annual Assembly of Standards 

Committees   
(Pages 7 - 10) 

 This report advises Members of the proceedings of the 6th Annual 
Assembly of Standards Committees, held in Birmingham on 15th 
– 16th October.  
 

5. Outcome of Complaint regarding Members 
of Upper and Nether Poppleton  Parish 
Councils   

(Pages 11 - 14) 

 This report advises the Standards Committee of the outcome of a 
complaint regarding Councillor David Tomlinson of Nether 
Poppleton Parish Council and Councillor Ted Kendall of Upper 
Poppleton Parish Council. No evidence was found that either 
member breached the Code of Conduct. 
 

6. Ethical Governance Audit   (Pages 15 - 46) 
 This report advises Members of progress on the Ethical 

Governance Audit, including the outcome of Stage 1, and seeks 
approval for the action to be taken. 
 

7. Review of Workplan    
 To review the workplan for the Standards Committee for the 

2007/08 municipal year.  The latest version of the workplan is 
annexed to the minutes of the previous meeting, at pages 5-6 of 
this agenda. 
 

8. Any other business which the Chair decides is 
urgent under the Local Government Act 1972.   

 

 

 
Democracy Officer: 
 
Name: Fiona Young 
Contact Details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 551027 

• E-mail – fiona.young@york.gov.uk 
 
 
 



 

 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

• Registering to speak 

• Business of the meeting 

• Any special arrangements 

• Copies of reports 
 
Contact details are set out above. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 

If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 
 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



Page 2

 

 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (38 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Advisory Panel (EMAP)) agenda. 
The Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date 
and will set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 

• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 
necessary; and 

• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 
 

Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



City of York Council Minutes

MEETING STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

DATE 28 SEPTEMBER 2007 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS BAINTON (INDEPENDENT 
MEMBER, IN THE CHAIR), KIRK, HORTON (VICE-
CHAIR) AND CRAWFORD (PARISH COUNCIL 
MEMBER) 

APOLOGIES COUNCILLORS HUDSON AND LEAMAN 

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members were invited to declare any personal or prejudicial interests they 
had in the business on the agenda.  No interests were declared. 

9. MINUTES  

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting of 10 August 2007 be 
approved and signed as a correct record. 

10. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak under the 
Council’s public participation scheme. 

11. APPLICATIONS FOR DISPENSATION BY BISHOPTHORPE PARISH 
COUNCIL  

Members considered a report that set out details of applications for 
dispensations received by Councillors Bruce, Jamison, Dale, Livesley, 
Dunn, Mellors, Green, Thornton, Harrison and Watkins of Bishopthorpe 
Parish Council in respect of their participation in the St Andrew’s Reading 
Room Charity. 

Members discussed the letter which the Head of Civic, Legal and 
Democratic Services had written to Bishopthorpe Parish Council.  
Bishopthorpe Parish Council gave the following answers to Members’ 
questions: 

• Q: What are the quorate requirements for both the Parish Council and 
the Charity?  A: Four 

• Q: What are the minimum number of Trustees required by the Charity? 
A: Ten 

• Q: Is it permissible to nominate non-parish Councillors as Trustees for 
the Charity?  A: No 

• Q: Are there any other prejudicial interests arising out of membership of 
both bodies or is the interest simply due to participation in both the 
Parish Council and the Trust?  A: Interest is due to participation in both 
the Parish Council, Trust and Code of Conduct. 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



• Q: Specifically, are any members of the Parish Councillors family or 
close friends employed or benefiting significantly from the Charity?  A: 
No 

• Q: Has advice been sought from the Charities Commission regarding 
this issue?  A: No from the Code of Conduct. 

• Q: Is it possible to have sight of any Trust documents?  A: Yes 

Members considered the responses and agreed to approve the grant of a 
dispensation  for four years. 

RESOLVED: That the dispensation to permit those named members of 
Bishopthorpe Parish Council to speak and vote on matters 
relating to the St Andrew’s Reading Room Charity be granted 
for four years from the date of this meeting. 

REASON: To ensure that the decisions of Bishopthorpe Parish Council 
are in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

12. REVIEW OF WORKPLAN  

Members considered a workplan for 2007/2008. The amended workplan is 
attached to these minutes. 

13. REGISTER OF INTEREST FOR STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

Members were reminded to complete their registration of interest forms.   

RESOLVED:  That the Parish Councillor be sent the  forms to complete.   

REASON: To ensure that all Members complete their registration of 
interest forms. 

14. PRESENTATION ON THE STANDARDS BOARD CODE OF CONDUCT  

Members received a presentation on the Standards Board Code of 
Conduct.  It illustrated the prejudicial, personal and predetermination 
changes and highlighted causes of bullying and issuing of confidential 
papers. 

RESOLVED: That Members be provided with copies of the Code of 
Conduct pocket guide. 

REASON: To ensure Members are up to date on the Standards Board 
Code of Conduct. 

C BAINTON 
Independent Member, In the Chair 
[The meeting started at 3.00 pm and finished at 3.50 pm.]

Page 4



Annex 1 

2007/2008 Workplan for Standards Committee 

Ongoing Activities 
Cases referred for investigation or determination 
Database of Standards Committee topics 
Standards Board Guidance 
Parish Council Issues 
Member and Officer Training 

Programme of New Work Meeting Date Communication / Strategic 
Activity

Confidentiality and Transparency – Conclusions of the Executive on 
the report of the Scrutiny Panel 

26 January 2007 Report gone to Executive and 
all recommendations 
approved. The two matters 
referred to SMC have been 
completed. 

Amendments to the Members’ Code of Conduct 26 January 2007 An informal meeting to be 
held before the introduction of 
the code. 
  

Advice to Elected Members re activities during the purdah period 26 January 2007 Completed 

Presentation on new Committee Management System June 2007 Completed 

Annual Report 23 March 2007 At the meeting of 14 March 
2008.  

Report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life TBA Completed. 

Parish Councils – Good Practice at Meetings May 2007 To be put on hold depending 
upon the complaints that 
come in. Remove from 
workplan. 

M
in

u
te

 A
n
n

e
x

P
a
g
e
 1

P
a
g
e
 5



Annex 1 

Review of the Complaints Procedure June 2007 Completed 

Employee Code of Conduct – Member/Officer training. 2006/07 Completed 

Applications to the Standards Committee for a Dispensation by 
Members of Bishopthorpe Parish Council 

June 2007 Completed 

Member Officer Relations Protocol 28 September 2007 

Preparation for Local Determination 9 November 2007

Programme of New Work Meeting Date Communication / Strategic 
Activity

Full Ethical Audit 2006/07 Yes 
As per earlier item. 

Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) – contribution of 
Standards Committee 

The November 2007 meeting at 
the latest 

Assessment of the impact of the White Paper on Standards 
Committee 

9 November 2007 

Ethical Governance Audit Report action plan 9 November 2007  

Article in News and Jobs (to be done when Ethical Audit results are 
out) 

2007  

P
a
g
e
 2

P
a
g
e
 6



 

 

  

 

   

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 9 November 2007 

 
Report of the Interim Head of Civic, Democratic and Legal Services 

 

6th ANNUAL ASSEMBLY OF STANDARDS COMMITTEES  

Summary 

1.  The purpose of this report is to advise the committee of the proceedings of 
the 6th Annual Assembly of Standards Committees held in Birmingham on 
15th – 16th October.  

 Background 

2.  The 6th Annual Assembly of Standards Committees was held in Birmingham 
on 15th – 16th October. City of York Standards Committee was represented by 
the Chair, Christine Bainton. 

3.  As in previous years, the Assembly was extremely well attended with several 
hundred delegates comprising members of Standards Committees both 
elected and independent as well as Monitoring Officers. All available places 
at the conference were sold. 

4.  The focus of the Assembly was very much on meeting the challenge of the 
local filter for complaints. The legislation to enable this to happen, the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill, is currently going through 
Parliament but the intended start date is still 1st April 2008. Once the Bill 
receives Royal Assent there will be consultation on the regulations to give 
effect to the provisions. Given the time available it seems unlikely we will 
have the regulations much in advance of April.  

5. The Assembly was addressed by Parmjit Dhanda MP, Parliamentary Under   
Secretary of State who put the introduction of local filtering of complaints in 
the context of the wider agenda of local accountability and the shift of power 
to local government. The local route would become the norm and the 
Standards Board for England  would assume the role of a light touch national 
regulator responsible for national standards, ensuring consistency across 
local government and handling those few cases which cannot be dealt with 
locally. He made no promise of additional resources to local authorities to 
assist in fulfilling this new role. 

6. About 40 local authorities have been participating in pilot studies on the  
operation of the local filter and a number of sessions were held to give 
members and officers who had participated in the pilots an opportunity to 

Agenda Item 4Page 7



 

share their experiences. The pilots used a number of scenarios of varying 
degrees of complexity based on real complaints to test how local Standards 
Committees would manage with the local filter. The feedback has generally 
been positive and encouraging that local Standards Committees have the 
expertise to cope. 

7.  The national picture is that last year over half of all cases requiring 
investigation were handled locally and that proportion will continue to grow 
with most case being dealt with by a local investigation and local hearing. The 
new Code seems to have been well received and is seen as more 
appropriate to members’ roles as community advocates. 

8. There is still the unresolved issue about how the Code will impact on 
members when they are not acting as members. This is being dealt with in 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill  and is likely to  
restrict its impact to behaviour which has resulted in certain criminal 
convictions. 

9. The total number of complaints is slightly down but is fairly constant year on 
year although the number of referrals is down  with the Board filtering out 
vexatious and trivial complaints and concentrating on those with the potential 
to damage  public confidence in local government. That will become an issue 
for local Standards Committees when they commence filtering complaints. 
Greater use is being made of directions to bring about mediation where there 
are personality clashes and behavioural problems. 

Consultation  

10. Not applicable. This report is intended for the information of the standards 
Committee 

Options  

11.  The option is for members to receive the report. 

 

Analysis 
 

12.   Not applicable 

 

Corporate Priorities 

13. Compliance with the Local Government Act contributes to the corporate 
priority of improving leadership at all levels. The Standards Committee needs 
to be kept informed of national developments. 

 

Page 8



 

Implications 

14. There are no specific financial, HR, equalities, legal, crime and disorder, IT, 
property or other implications arising out of this report. 

Risk Management 
 

15. There are no known risks associated with this report.  
 

 Recommendations 

16.  The Standards Committee are asked to note the contents of this report. 

Reason: 

To keep the Standards Committee advised of the current national picture in  
relation to the ethical agenda. 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Colin Langley 
Interim Head of civic Democratic and Legal 
Services 
 

 
Report Approved √ Date 25

th
 Oct 2007 

 

 

Author’s name 

Colin Langley  

Interim Head of Civic, 
Democratic and Legal Services 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel No. 551004 

 

 

    

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 

None 

All √ Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

None 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

   

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

9 NOVEMBER 2007 

 
Report of the Interim Head of Civic, Democratic and Legal Services 

 

OUTCOME OF COMPLAINT REGARDING MEMBERS OF NETHER 
POPPLETON AND UPPER POPPLETON PARISH COUNCILS 

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Standards Committee of the 
outcome of a complaint regarding Councillor David Tomlinson of Nether 
Poppleton Parish Council and Councillor Ted Kendall of Upper Poppleton 
Parish Council. No evidence was found that either member breached the 
Code of Conduct. 

Background 

2. The complainant to the Standards Board for England alleged that Councillor 
David Tomlinson of Nether Poppleton Parish Council and Councillor Ted 
Kendall of Upper Poppleton Parish Council failed to declare a prejudicial 
interest and leave the meeting when their respective Councils considered 
matters concerning the Poppleton community Trust (PCT). 

3. The complainant alleged that Councillor Tomlinson and Councillor Kendall 
represented their councils as trustees of the PCT and that they both took an 
active part in considering funding applications from the PCT on various 
occasions between 16th August 2004 and 15th January 2007. 

4. The complainant further alleged that each of the councillors in question failed 
to include their trusteeships in the register of interests. 

5.  The PCT is a registered charity for the purposes of providing and maintaining 
a village hall and recreation ground for both parishes. The trustees consist of 
a chairman, two elected members, four members representing the two parish 
councils, York City Council and the Poppleton Churches, and six members 
nominated by local groups. All adult residents of the area are allowed to vote 
at the PCT’s annual general meeting. 

6. Several years ago, the councils stopped nominating representatives as 
trustees, but opted to appoint them as “observers” only in order to avoid 
conflicts of interest. 

Agenda Item 5Page 11



 

7. In this case, Councillors Kendal and Tomlinson were nominated by their 
respective councils as observers only and were not officially members, or in a 
position of general control or management of the PCT. There was also no 
evidence that their wellbeing or finances could reasonably be regarded as 
affected by any decision on funding for the PCT. 

8. The ethical standards officer, appointed by the Standards Board to 
investigate the matter, considered that the councillors did not have an interest 
in the PCT which would have needed to be registered, nor any personal 
interest in the matter. Where there is no personal interest, the issue of a 
prejudicial interest cannot arise. 

9. The ethical standards officer found no evidence that either member had failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

Consultation  

10. This is a matter of report to the Standards Committee and further consultation     
is not required. 

Options  

11.  Not applicable.  The report is for the information of the Committee.  
 

Analysis 
 

12.  Not applicable 

 

Corporate Priorities 

13. Compliance with the Local Government Act 2000 contributes to the corporate 
priority of improving leadership at all levels.  

Implications 

14.  There are no specific financial, HR equalities, legal, crime and disorder, IT,
  property or other implications arising out of this report. 

Risk Management 
 

15. The Standards Committee needs to be aware of the outcome of complaints 
relating to alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct in order to fulfil its 
statutory role. There are no known risks arising from this report. 

 

Recommendations 

16.  The committee is asked to note the contents of this report. 

 

Page 12



 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Colin Langley Interim Head of Civic, 
Democratic and Legal Services. 
Colin Langley 
Interim Head of Civic Democratic and Legal 
Services  
Chief Executive’s 
551004 
 
Report Approved √ Date 24

th
 October 2007 

Author’s name  
Title 
Dept Name 
Tel No. 
 

 

    

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
None 

All √ Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all 
Rural West York  
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

Letter from Standards Board for England dated 4th October 2007 
 
Annexes 
 
None 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

   

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 9 November 2007 

 
Report of the Interim Head of Civic, Democratic and Legal Services 

 

ETHICAL GOVERNANCE AUDIT 

Summary 

1. This report advises members of progress on the Ethical Governance Audit 
including the outcome of Stage 1 and seeks approval to the action to be 
taken. 

 Background 

2. The Audit Commission was commissioned to carry out an Ethical 
Governance Audit of the Council. The audit is undertaken as a three stage 
process:- 

• Stage 1 – this consists of an assessment of policies, procedures and 
practices against statutory requirements and best practice. Effectively, it is 
a review of the documentation in place to support the governance 
framework 

• Stage 2 – this is an assessment  of the level of awareness of ethical 
governance issues by way of a questionnaire completed by Members and 
the first three tiers of officers 

• Stage 3 – this stage involves the delivery of workshops with members and 
officers to deal with issues arising out of the Stage 1 and 2 process. 

3. The final Stage 1 report was published in August. A copy is attached as 
Annex 1 to this report. 

4. The main conclusions of the report are that overall the Council’s 
arrangements to deliver high ethical standards are satisfactory. There are 
some areas where arrangements could be strengthened and other areas 
where best practice could be adopted. These areas are detailed in the report 
at paragraphs 8 – 23 and in the appendix. 

5. A further checklist and action plan has been prepared setting out the issues 
highlighted in Stage 1 and the action which is being, or has been,  taken to 
address them. This is attached as Annex 2. 

Agenda Item 6Page 15



 

6. There are a number of issues which relate to the composition and role of the 
Standards Committee which will involve amendment to the Council’s 
Constitution. These have been included in the work of Officer Governance 
Group and the Constitutional Project Board. 

7. The Stage 2 report is still at draft stage and has yet to be signed off by the 
auditor. A further report will be brought to the Committee when it has been 
finalised. 

8. A programme for the workshops for stage 3 has still to be arranged. 

Consultation  

 9. The Council’s Officer Governance Group has considered the Stage 1 report   
and the conclusions/recommendations arising from it. The outcome of the 
Ethical Governance Audit will also be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  

Options  

10. Members have the option of agreeing some or all of the recommendations set 
out in  Annex 2 to this report. 

 

Analysis 
 

11. The actions detailed in the Annex represent the views of the OGG as to the 
best way of taking forward the outstanding actions. 

 

Corporate Priorities 

12. Implementation of the recommendations arising from the Ethical Governance 
Audit will contribute to the corporate priority of providing strong leadership       
for the city.  

 Implications 

13.  There are no specific financial, HR, equalities, crime and disorder, IT,                
property implications arising out of this report. The legal implications are dealt 
with in       the report.  

Risk Management 
 

14. There is a risk to the standing and reputation of the Council if it does not 
ensure high ethical standards within the organisation. 

 

 Recommendations 

15. The Standards committee are recommended 

Page 16



 

1) to note the outcome of stage 1 of the Ethical Governance 
Audit and the   progress on stages 2 and 3. 

2) to agree the actions set out in Annex 1 in relation to the 
various recommendations contained in the Stage 1 Report: 

Reason:  To ensure the maintenance of high standards of ethical 
conduct in the Council. 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Colin Langley 
Interim Head of Civic, Democratic and Legal 
Services  
 
 
Report Approved √ Date 26

th
 October 2007 

 
 

Colin Langley 
Interim Head of Legal, Civic and 
Democratic Services 
Chief Executive’s 
Tel No. 551004 

 

 

    

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
None 

All √ Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

Ethical Governance Audit Report Stage 1 
Annexes 
 
Annex 1 – Ethical Governance Audit Report Stage 1 
Annex 2 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist and action plan. 
 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Summary Report 

August 2007 

Ethical Governance 
Audit - Stage 1 

City of York Council 

Audit 2006/07 

Page 19



© Audit Commission 2007 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212  Fax: 020 7976 6187  Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

External audit is an essential element in the process of accountability for public 
money and makes an important contribution to the stewardship of public resources 
and the corporate governance of public services. 

Audit in the public sector is underpinned by three fundamental principles: 

auditors are appointed independently from the bodies being audited; 

the scope of auditors' work is extended to cover not only the audit of financial 
statements but also value for money and the conduct of public business; and 

auditors may report aspects of their work widely to the public and other key 
stakeholders.

The duties and powers of auditors appointed by the Audit Commission are set out in 
the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Commission's statutory Code of Audit Practice. Under the Code of Audit Practice, 
appointed auditors are also required to comply with the current professional 
standards issued by the independent Auditing Practices Board.

Appointed auditors act quite separately from the Commission and in meeting their 
statutory responsibilities are required to exercise their professional judgement 
independently of both the Commission and the audited body. 

Status of our reports 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the 
Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the 
audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to 
non-executive directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use of 
the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

any third party. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

Page 20



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1 Contents  3

City of York Council 

Contents
Introduction 4

Audit approach 4

Main conclusions 4

Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 6

Page 21



4 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1 Audit Summary Report 

City of York Council 

Introduction

1 We have been requested by the council to carry out an audit of their ethical 
governance arrangements. The audit is being carried out in three stages: 

stage 1 - a review of the council's overall arrangements; 

stage 2 - a survey of members and officers views on the council's arrangements; 
and

stage 3 - workshops for members and officers. 

2 This report summarises the key messages from stage 1. 

Audit approach 

3 The stage 1 of the audit has involved: 

a detailed review of key council documents; 

comparison to good practice examples; and 

discussion with key council officers. 

4 We have completed a detailed checklist which documents our view on the 
council's arrangements. 

Main conclusions 

5 Overall the council’s arrangements to deliver high ethical standards are 
satisfactory. 

6 There are some areas where arrangements need strengthening and other areas 
where best practice could be adopted. These are set out below. More detail is 
recorded in Appendix 1 - the detailed audit checklist. The question numbers 
below relate to the questions in Appendix 1. 

7 Our suggested key improvement points are set out below. 

Standards Committee 

8 There is only one parish council member of the Standards Committee. It is good 
practice to have more than one parish council member, particularly to allow 
leeway should a complaint be received about that members’ parish council. (Q3) 

9 Setting up a parish sub-committee to the standards committee would enable the 
parish councils to have a forum for standards issues. (Q4) 

10 Cases published by the Standards Board could be publicised more widely across 
the council, eg by producing briefing notes to all members/relevant officers, or by 
establishing an area of the intranet for standards related issues. (Q12) 

Page 22



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Audit Summary Report 5

City of York Council 

11 The role of the standards committee could be widened to provide an overview of 
complaints handling and investigations by the Ombudsman, this is not apparently 
delegated to any committee in the council. (Q13) 

12 To promote and maintain a healthy ethical environment, the communication of the 
council's values, the complaints procedures and corporate policies could be 
enhanced through posters, bulletins, the intranet and training. (Q14) 

13 The planned training sessions to the new council on the code of conduct should 
be delivered promptly, and the communication of the code of conduct could be 
supplemented by advice sessions or newsletters from the Standards Committee 
and the Monitoring Officer. (Q16) 

14 Training sessions on the new officer code of conduct should be planned and 
delivered promptly after the new code becomes applicable. (Q17) 

15 The council’s required standards of behaviour should be clearly communicated to 
the public, external stakeholders and all partners. The standards committee 
should take a lead in the communication. (Q18) 

16 Consider council-wide publicity of the role and work of the standards committee. 
(Q20)

Members’ code of conduct 

17 The code of conduct must be a publicly available document. Because the code is 
within the Constitution it does not show up on the internet search function, and 
this makes it difficult to locate. Additionally staff at public offices should have a 
copy of the code readily available for public inspection. (Q27) 

18 When the new code of conduct is adopted this should be publicised and sent to 
the Standards Board for England. (Q28/29) 

19 Consider setting up a system to monitor Members' compliance with the code of 
conduct. (Q52) 

Referrals from the Standards Board 

20 The standards committee should adopt a formal approach to how it carries out its 
duties on receiving a referral back from the Standards Board for England. This is 
particularly relevant should the proposed changes to SBE be adopted. (Q41) 

Protocols and policies 

21 The council’s protocols do not appear to cover the use of council stationery, 
postage and the use of council vehicles. (Q63) 

22 Current developments on partnership arrangements should ensure that the 
council's ethical framework is incorporated in procurement, contracting and 
partnership development guidance. (Q64) 

23 The council policies could be more easily located on the intranet – eg the  
anti-bullying policy was very difficult to locate. (Q65) 

Page 23



6 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

1) Is there a Standards Committee 
(SC) in the council? 

CYC have established an SC. Requirement met. 

2) How far does the membership of the 
SC comply with the legislation? 

Membership of the SC s laid down by Article 8 of the Constitution:  

six Members made up of three Councillors, two independent 
members and one member from a Parish Council. 

This meets the requirement for 25 per cent independent 
membership. Article 8 states that the Leader is not eligible for 
membership of the SC. 

It is common practice for the SC to contain one member from each 
of the main parties and this is the current situation. 

Membership of the SC complies with 
the legislation. 

3) If the council has town and parish 
local authorities, has at least one 
representative been appointed on to 
the SC? 

Only one member from the Parishes. 

Note: Strengthening the Parish arrangements could be achieved 
by either issue 3 or issue 4. 

Good practice is for more than one 
parish council member. 

4) Has the authority established a  
sub-committee to deal with parish 
issues?

No sub committee has been established. Consider setting up a sub-committee 
to deal with Parish issues. 

5) How were independent members 
appointed? Were the council’s 
recruitment procedures adhered to? 

While the Council have not used their standard HR practices in the 
recruitment of independent members they have followed a formal 
recruitment process. Adverts were posted in the local press and 
Public Sector journals to attract candidates and candidates were 
required to fill in an application from and attend an interview prior 
to selection. The advert shows that the position advertised was not 
open to anyone who has served on the Council in the last  
five years or anyone that is a close friend of any member of 
employee of the Council. 

Although the council did not follow its 
standard recruitment procedures in 
this appointment the approach 
adopted is robust and appropriate. 
The recruitment of the independent 
chair of the SC has followed the 
Standards Board's required 
procedures. 

P
a

g
e
 2

4



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 7

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

6) Who chairs the SC? Is it one of 
the independent members? 

Article 8 of the Constitution that one of the independent members will 
be the Chair of the SC. Current chair is Christine Bainton. 

Chair is an independent member as 
required. 

7) What are the terms of reference 
of the SC? Do they include:  

 advising on the adoption of a 
local code which sets out the 
standards of conduct expected 
from members;

 promoting and maintaining 
high standards of conduct 
within the council through 
assistance, advice and 
training; and 

 monitoring the operation of the 
local code?

Page 104 of the Constitution provides the Terms of Reference for the 
SC. These include the following. 

 Assisting members to uphold their Code of Conduct. 

 Advising on the adoption of the Code. 

 Promoting high standards of conduct. 

 Monitoring the operation of the Code. 

 Providing advice and training to Members on the Code. 

Terms of Reference are 
comprehensive and appropriate. 

8) Have the terms of reference for 
this committee been submitted to 
the Standards Board? 

This will have happened before the current Monitoring Officer was in 
post, and there is no retained evidence that this has been done. The 
MO suspects that this will have been done when they were first drawn 
up prior to her taking up her post. 

Evidence of this cannot be provided 
but the council assumes (not 
unreasonably) that the ToR would 
have been sent to the Standards 
Board in the past. 

9) Has the SC undertaken an 
assessment of the standards of 
conduct within the council? 

No formal assessment of conduct within the council has been 
undertaken. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for investigating 
complaints of bullying etc at meetings and has not had any such 
complaints in the last three years. 

Monitoring member conduct at Council meetings is part of the ongoing 
monitoring procedures in place within the SC and the role of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

While no formal assessment of 
conduct at meetings is carried out 
there is evidence to suggest that 
standards of conduct are 
acceptable. 

P
a
g
e
 2

5



8 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

10) Has the SC considered how it could 
use internal and external auditors, 
scrutiny and committee 
administration to promote high 
ethical standards across the 
council? 

Article 8 of the constitution states that the SC will liaise with the 
Audit and Governance Committee as appropriate. 

The Terms of Reference on page 104 of the constitution state that 
the SC should consider information and reports from the 
Monitoring Officer and the Scrutiny Committee with regard to the 
conduct of Members. 

The SC works closely with the Scrutiny Committee in planning 
work and investigations – the SC has recently engaged Scrutiny to 
review confidentiality and transparency within the council. 

Formal documents set the appropriate 
framework, though evidence of the 
arrangements being applied is limited. 

11) How does the SC learn from the 
findings including of internal and 
external audit, the local government 
ombudsman, complaints and 
whistleblowing? 

The SC is informed by reports from the Monitoring Officer and 
Scrutiny, and can liaise with the Audit and Governance Committee 
as appropriate. 

The arrangements are adequate but 
do place the emphasis on the 
Monitoring Officer to report relevant 
items to the SC. 

12) What mechanisms does the SC 
have in place to publicise 
guidance/case rulings published by 
the Standards Board? 

The guidance on individual cases goes to the standards 
committee.

Letters are sent to parish councils where guidance is clearly not 
understood. 

Arrangements seem adequate but 
there is scope to enhance by 
providing briefings to 
members/officers, and by setting up 
an area on the intranet to locate all 
standards related documents. 

P
a

g
e
 2

6



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 9

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

13) What role does the SC have in the 
council? 

The ODPM guidance suggests that 
local authorities may arrange for 
their SCs to exercise further 
functions according to local choice. 
These might include: 

 overview of internal and external 
audit;

 overview of the whistleblowing 
policy;

 overview of complaints handling 
and Ombudsman investigations; 

 review the constitution, making 
sure it is designed to reduce the 
opportunity for misconduct by 
ensuring decisions of the 
executive are taken after proper 
discussion, and making sure 
processes are accountable to 
members and the public; 

 make sure that relations with 
outside bodies are managed 
properly; 

 assess reports from the 
Ombudsman and Audit 
Commission; 

 comment on members 
allowances;

 deal with protocols for members 
and council employees; 

 identify risk problems and risk 
factors; and 

develop procurement procedures. 

Of the areas highlighted the SC is only responsible for protocols 
for member/officer relationships, and advising the Council on 
amendments required to the Constitution for ethical matters. 

The following are all the responsibility of the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 Overview of IA and External Audit. 

 Overview of whistleblowing policy 

 Assess reports from Audit Commission 

 Identify risk problems and factors 

 Develop procurement processes 

The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to maintain an up 
to date Constitution. 

There are some areas which are not specifically covered in any 
Committee’s terms of reference within the Constitution: 

 overview of complaints handling and Ombudsman 
investigations; and 

 member allowances - though, again, this may be the 
responsibility of the full council. 

Consider if the SC should be 
responsible for: 

 having an overview of the 
handling of complaints and 
Ombudsman investigations; and 

 commenting on members 
allowances.

P
a
g
e
 2

7



10 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

14) What does the SC do to promote 
and maintain a healthy ethical 
environment in the council and raise 
standards in the council? 

There is a member development programme to raise awareness. 

The Audit Commission have done some training to members. 

The SC have considered Nolan and subsequent reports. 

SC is proactive in its role but mainly 
focused on members standards. 
Communication of such matters 
around the council could be enhanced 
by publicising the: 

 council's values; 

 complaints procedures; 

 whistleblowing policy; and 

 corporate policies. 

Publicising could be through posters, 
bulletins, the intranet and training. 

15) What does the SC do to help 
members/officers to understand the 
code of conduct? 

How does the SC communicate the 
requirements of the code of conduct 
to all members? 

Training on the Code is provided to all new members as part of 
their induction process. Members of the SC have been given 
training about the proposed changes to the Code and complaints 
procedure as proposed by the SBE. 

The Monitoring Officer is proposing to give a presentation to Full 
Council at the first meeting after the elections have taken place in 
order to explain the Code and members responsibilities.

Formal training is provided to new 
members as part of their induction 
programme. Any questions from 
members about the Code are handled 
directly by the Monitoring Officer. 

16) What training have members 
received about the code? Is it 
adequate? 

Training has been on hold for 12 months. But there are two new 
member sessions planned for after the election, and training will 
incorporate the new code. 

Training plan needs to be delivered 
and needs to include the new code as 
planned. 

17) What training have officers received 
about the code? Is it adequate? 

When the new constitution came in sessions where done at all 
Directorate Management Teams, plus Corporate Leadership 
Group and Corporate Management Team. This covered the code, 
to some degree, and good decision making. 

The council are now waiting for the new Officer Code of Conduct 
to carry out more training. 

Training on the new officer code 
needs to be planned for delivery 
promptly after the new code becomes 
applicable. 

P
a

g
e
 2

8



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 11

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

18) What does the SC do to help the 
public, external stakeholders and 
partners to understand the required 
standards of behaviour of 
members?

There is a standing item on all council agendas on interests.  
Co-opted members have been encouraged to sign up to the Code 
of conduct (which they have). Arrangements for partners are less 
clear – work is ongoing around the governance and accountability 
of partnerships. 

It is not clear what role the standards 
committee has in publicising the 
required standards of behaviour of all 
concerned. 

The council needs to ensure that the 
required standards of behaviour are 
effectively communicated to the 
public, stakeholders and partners. 

19) How well informed and supported do 
independent members feel about 
their role? 

The chair feels very well supported. The Monitoring Officer takes a 
proactive role in supporting and assisting the independent 
members.

No major issues. 

20) How aware are members and 
officers about the role and work of 
the SC? 

The Monitoring Officer believes that members are very aware of 
the role and work of the SC as it directly relates to their behaviours 
and activities. It is less clear how aware officers are of the work of 
the SC. 

It is possible that only senior officers 
are aware of the work of the SC. 
Consider council-wide publicity of the 
SC.

21) How easily available are SC: 

 terms of reference; 

 meeting schedule; 

 the agenda; 

 reports; 

 minutes; and 

 background papers? 

The terms of Reference, meeting schedules for the current 
financial year, agendas, reports, minutes and background papers 
were all easily obtained form the council website. 

All relevant meeting documentation 
was easily obtained. 

22) Has the council adopted the 
members’ code of conduct? 

Have all elected members signed up 
to the code? 

A Code of Conduct has been adopted. All members have signed 
up to the code. 

All elected members have agreed to 
conduct themselves in accordance 
with the Code. 

23) Have co-opted members  
(eg Members of Pension Fund) also 
signed the code of conduct? 

All co-opted members have signed the code. No issues. 

P
a
g
e
 2

9



12 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

24) Has the member code of conduct 
been tailored to local 
circumstances? 

Has the Standards Board for 
England been informed of any 
changes to the model code? 

The model code issued by the SBE has not been tailored locally. Code of Conduct is in line with the 
model as provided by the Standards 
Board.

25) Does the local code include all the 
required aspects? 

The Code includes all the required aspects. All required aspects have been 
included in the Code. 

26) Has the council integrated the code 
of conduct into its policies/schemes, 
following from their obligations 
under the SDA, DDA and the RRAA, 
HRA and the FOI Acts? 

Reviewed the FoI policy - no reference to the code of conduct has 
been made. Policies directly relating to the SDA, DDA, RRAA and 
HRA were not located. The 'prevention of bullying, harassment 
and discrimination at work' does clearly state that the council's 
disciplinary procedure will be used to address incidents, although 
no mention of the codes of conduct is made. 

Although the code of conduct has not 
been integrated into specific council 
policies, there are clear statements of 
intent relating to conduct and the 
council's obligations. 

27) Has the council ensured that 
copies of the code are available at 
an office of the council for 
inspection by the public at all 
reasonable hours? 

Including parishes. 

The code was not available at the City Finance Centre. 

At the Guildhall, a hard copy was not available to view. On 
request, and after some time, an officer located the Code on the 
Intranet to view.

Although the Code is available on the council website it is within 
the Constitution and as such does not show up on any of the 
search facilities on the website. 

A hard copy of the code should be 
available for inspection by the public 
and staff in public offices should be 
aware of the council's arrangements. 

The Code should be made more 
easily accessible on the council 
website. 

28) Has the council publicised through 
at least one local newspaper that 
the code has been adopted and 
that it is available for inspection 
(including the address of the 
office)? 

Including parishes. 

The Code was adopted in 2002. No evidence has been retained to 
confirm that the council did publicise it's adoption. 

Evidence of the publicising of the 
code's adoption could not be 
produced. 

When the new Code is adopted by 
the council, this should be publicised, 
along with the arrangements for 
public inspection of the code. 

29) Has the council sent a copy of its 
code to The Standards Board? 

Including parishes. 

The Code was adopted in 2002. No evidence has been retained to 
confirm that the council did send the Code to the SBE. It is 
reasonable to assume that the SBE would have reminded the 
council of the need to do this, if it had failed to do so. 

When the new Code is adopted by 
the council, this should be sent to the 
SBE as required. 

P
a

g
e
 3

0



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 13

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

30) How far do members promote 
equality, do not discriminate 
unlawfully against any person, and 
understand the implications of the 
following acts of parliament. 

 Human Rights. 

 Disability Discrimination. 

 Sex Discrimination. 

 Race Relations Amendment. 

 Freedom of Information. 

How far do members integrate the 
requirements of the acts into their 
approach to their work? 

Evidence from meetings and from discussions with the MO is that 
members are well aware of the acts and behave in accordance 
with them. The Social Inclusion Group reports to the Executive, 
and covers diversity and equality issues, and there is a member 
champion for Social Inclusion. This enables the disability and 
equality agendas to be incorporated into the councils work. 

No major issues. 

31) How far do members and officers 
understand their respective roles? 
How far do members interfere in 
minor operational issues? 

The MO view is that members and officers do understand their 
roles and that communication lines are strong when members do 
interfere in minor operational issues. 

No major issues. 

32) How far do members and officers 
treat each other with respect? 

How far do members and officers 
trust each other? 

Directors seem to have good relationships with members. The MO 
has a good working relationship with most members. Evidenced 
recent cases highlight that there is a good level of trust between 
the officers and members. 

No major issues. 

33) How do members demonstrate 
openness, transparency, 
accountability and equity when 
making decisions? 

Members are very inclusive of the public in meetings, and most 
meetings are public. All Executive decisions are made through 
public EMAP meetings. Shadow Executive challenges the 
Executive.

Minutes of meetings are available on the internet and are clear 
and available. 

No major issues. 

P
a
g
e
 3

1



14 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

34) Do members ever do anything 
which compromises or is likely to 
compromise the impartiality of 
those who work for, or on behalf of, 
the authority? 

There have been no cases come to light of this in the last few 
years.

No major issues. 

35) Do members and officers ever 
inappropriately disclose 
information given to them in 
confidence?  

No examples exist of this having happened. No issues. 

36) How far do members listen to the 
advice of officers? 

There are many examples that officer advice and challenge is 
listened to and acted upon. 

No major issues. 

37) Is the constitution designed to 
reduce the opportunity for 
misconduct by ensuring decisions 
of the executive are taken after 
proper discussion? 

Executive Committee meetings are governed by the Council’s 
general standing orders as per page 129 of the Constitution. 
Where the proceedings of the Executive meetings differ from 
these standing orders these have been set out on page 145 of the 
Constitution. 

The constitution is designed to reduce 
the opportunity for misconduct. 

38) Do members or officers ever 
behave in a way which could 
reasonably be regarded as 
bringing their office or authority into 
disrepute? 

The only breach in three years is one Councillor receiving a 
reprimand from SBE for a breach. The SC annual report does not 
highlight any major issues. 

Disrepute cases are very rare and 
seem to be appropriately handled. 

39) Do any members ever misuse their 
official position to their own 
advantage or (dis)advantage of 
others?

No cases (other than the isolated case above). No issues. 

40) Do members ever inappropriately 
use resources for political or other 
purposes? 

There are no cases of this happening. 

One case occurred recently but on the advice of officers, the 
council resources were not used. 

Evidence supports the assertion that 
members listen to officer advice 
especially relating to inappropriate 
use of council resources. 

P
a

g
e
 3

2



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 15

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

41) Has the SC given any 
consideration to how it will carry 
out its duties should it receive a 
referral back from the Standards 
Board, including: 

 the procedures for determining 
the outcome of cases referred 
back from the SBE for: 

- investigation; and 

- determination. 

 the role of the monitoring 
officer (giving 
advice/undertaking 
investigations);

 protocols and procedures for 
the monitoring officer when 
conducting investigations 
ensuring the right to natural 
justice is maintained, 
timeliness and time to respond 
is adhered to; 

 avoidance of conflict of interest 
of committee members; and 

 diversity, equalities, freedom of 
information, data protection. 

Evidence suggests that the SC has not given any formal 
consideration to the points raised, although training sessions on 
the process of investigations have been provided to SC members. 

The current recruitment of a Deputy Monitoring Officer will give an 
opportunity to formalise the approach to referrals from the SBE. 

No formal consideration of the points 
raised has been made. 

The SC should formally consider, and 
adopt an approach to carry out its 
duties on receipt of a referral. 

42) How well equipped is the SC to deal 
with referrals passed from the 
Standards Board for England? 

Currently the SC appears well equipped to handle local 
investigations. The proposed changes to the SBE would change 
this and could put a strain on the SC’s ability to carry out this role 
effectively. 

Currently it is believed that the SC is 
well equipped to deal with referrals 
from the SBE.

43) Has a register of interests been set 
up?

Register has been set up. No issues. 

P
a
g
e
 3

3



16 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

44) Is the register open to public 
scrutiny?

How easily accessible is it? 
(eg through the website and then 
can be found?) 

The register of interests for each individual Councillor can be 
obtained easily from the website. The full register is not available 
to view by the public from the Guildhall. 

No issues. 

45) Where town and parish local 
authorities exist within the council 
boundaries, have registers been set 
up for these local authorities too? 

Yes registers set up for parishes - maintained by Democratic 
Services. 

No issues. 

46) Has a public register for gifts and 
hospitality been set up? 

As with the register of interests, the gifts and hospitality register for 
each member is obtainable from the website with ease. A full copy 
of the register is available to view at the Guildhall. 

No issues. 

47) Does the register of interests require 
all members to record: 

 their jobs? 

 the name of their employer? 

 the name of any company of 
which they are a director or a 
partner? 

 the name of any person who has 
made a payment to them in 
respect their appointment as a 
member or expenses they have 
incurred in carrying out their 
duties?

 the name of any corporate body 
in which they have a 
shareholding of more than  
£25k (face value) or have a stake 
of more than 1/100th in the 
company? 

All requirements as listed are on the register of interest. 

The electronic register requires members to record all items in the 
list opposite. 

No issues. 

P
a

g
e
 3

4



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 17

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

 any contracts for goods and 
services or works between the 
authority and the member, their 
firm (if they are a partner) or 
company (if they are a director) or 
if they have a £25K (face value) 
or stake of more than 1/100th of 
the company? 

 landholdings in the area? 

 land leased or licensed from the 
authority?

 membership of, or position of 
control or management in: 

- other bodies where they 
represent the authority 

- other public authorities; 

- Companies, industrial and 
provident societies and 
charitable bodies; 

- bodies whose main purpose 
is to influence public policy or 
opinion; and 

- trade unions or professional 
associations? 

Members must tell their monitoring 
officer in writing of any interests 
which fall within these categories 
and must let the monitoring officer 
know in writing of any changes or 
additions that should be made. 
Interest must also be declared at 
meetings. 

P
a
g
e
 3

5



18 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

48) Are interested declared and logged 
at meetings? 

How rigorously are declarations of 
interest applied and monitored? 

How is the register of interests 
maintained?

How often is it up-dated? 

Interests are declared at meetings. The evidence suggests that 
members often declare interests that are not always totally 
relevant 'to be on the safe side'. 

Members have the ability to make amendments to their declaration 
of interests via the website. It is their responsibility to ensure that 
any relevant interests are declared and that the register is kept up 
to date. The register itself is simply an amalgamation of the 
individual members’ declarations and is maintained by the 
Democratic Services team. 

Register is kept up to date and is 
rigorously applied and monitored. 

49) How far do members understand the 
difference between personal and 
prejudicial interests – how is this 
communicated to them? 

Is it clear that personal and 
prejudicial interests must be 
declared by members of overview 
and scrutiny and other council 
committees and panels? 

Members are aware of the differences. The MO makes them 
aware at the start of meetings, and the difference between 
personal and prejudicial has been explained many times at 
meetings. As evidenced by minutes of meetings, members are 
very pro-active in declaring interests. 

No issues. 

50) Have there ever been any 
allegations of impropriety with 
regard to the declaration of 
interests? 

No examples of failure to disclose an interest. Recent evidence 
suggests there has been only one instance of a member partaking 
in a discussion against advice. 

No issues. 

51) Is it clear to members that a 
dispensation can be sought, 
allowing them to take part in 
meetings where they have a 
prejudicial interest? 

Yes – has been included in member training in the past. No issues. 

52) How proactive is the monitoring 
officer, about ensuring members 
comply with the code? 

The MO issues an annual reminder on registering interests. Also 
sends all members correspondence in the pre-election period 
setting out what they can do in that period. 

An annual report is taken to full council from the SC. 

Consider setting up a system to 
monitor compliance with the new 
code of conduct. 

P
a

g
e
 3

6



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 19

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

53) How far does the MO: 

 provide the SC with adequate 
support and information; 

 monitor the effectiveness of the 
code of conduct; 

 help train SC members on the 
code of conduct; and 

 provide appropriate advice to the 
SC?

One of the democracy officers provides support to the SC. 

Chair of the SC felt very well supported by officers. 

MO meets the chair before meetings, to determine the agenda and 
brief the chair.  

An annual report to Council is produecd – there have been no 
breaches of the code last year. 

Training has been focussed on detailed cases (eg the Ken 
Livingstone case recently). 

No issues. 

54) How well prepared is the monitoring 
officer for local investigations and 
the management of referrals back 
from TSBE? 

MO takes a paper to SC with any referral from SBE. MO leads any 
investigations and reports back to SC who consider the 
information and decide on the sanction. 

No issues. 

55) Does the Chief Executive have a 
role in ensuring that the code of 
conduct is observed and ethical 
behaviour is promoted? 

How defined is the role? 

How far does the Chief Executive 
share leadership of the ethical 
agenda with the Leader of the 
council? 

Formally the CX refers some matters to the MO, and responds to 
some ethical matters to members. 

Informally CX takes more of a lead on ethical matters than the 
leader, but the leader responds correctly when challenged. 

No issues. 

56) How does the Chief Executive 
promote the importance of the 
ethical agenda? 

How far is the chief executive a 
good role model for high ethical 
standards throughout the authority? 

As above – promotion is through formal and informal routes, and 
in opinion of the MO is effective at this. 

No issues. 

P
a
g
e
 3

7



20 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

57) Do the council’s practice and 
procedures allow the monitoring 
officer and the Chief Executive to 
intervene verbally or in writing if 
ethical issues arise in the  
decision-making process? 

Yes – response of verbal or written depends on the severity of the 
issue.

Constitution has a section which provides discretion (Article 13). 

No issues. 

58) Do the monitoring officer and SC 
have access to the Chief Executive 
on this issue? 

Yes – deals with issues as they arise. No issues. 

59) Does the monitoring officer have the 
protection of the Chief Executive? 

MO gets support from the CX, and also the Director of People and 
Improvement (who she reports to) and the Director of Resources. 

No issues. 

60) Do whistleblowers have the 
protection of the Chief Executive? 

Yes – as demonstrated through recent whistleblowing cases. No issues. 

61) How regularly are the following 
reviewed, including terms of 
reference; operation of the 
constitution, code of conduct, the 
SC, other ethical protocols. 

What changes have been made in 
the light of these reviews? 

The Constitution is reviewed every five years and was done in 
2006. MO has recently been given delegated authority to make 
minor drafting changes to the Constitution or more major changes 
where these have been agreed by herself and the various member 
groups. Any amendments made to the Constitution are reported to 
full Council on an ad hoc basis. 

The Code of Conduct is due to be revised this year and is the 
process of going through consultation. It is believed that the new 
Code will be in place for the summer of 2007. 

Any other documents are reviewed on an ad hoc basis. 

Constitution is formally reviewed 
every five years and this includes 
terms of reference for all committees. 

Other ethical protocols are reviewed 
on an ad hoc basis. 

62) How clear and widely known is the 
council’s access to information 
policy known to members and 
officers? 

Members are made aware of their responsibilities in terms of 
accessing and also providing information. The relevant protocols 
are contained within the Constitution (see Q64 below) and training 
is provided to members on these issues as part of the induction 
process. 

No issues. 

P
a

g
e
 3

8



Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 21

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

63) How clear are the council’s 
protocols on the following? 

 Member/officer protocols? 

 Use of authority premises? 

 Information technology (including 
the use of equipment at home)? 

 Telephone and fax? 

 Photocopying? 

 Use of stationery and headed 
writing paper? 

 Postage? 

 Use of authority transport? 

 Allowances and expenses?

Member/Office protocol – page 295 of Constitution. 

Access to info – page 327 of Constitution. 

Electronic Communication (IT, telephones etc) – Page 347 of 
Constitution. 

Allowances – Page 373 of Constitution. 

Documents were not located that relate to the use of council 
transport or the use of stationery items or postage equipment. 

Key documents are contained in the 
Constitution with the exception of 
policies for the use of stationery and 
postage and the use of council 
transport. 

64) How clear are the council’s ethical 
frameworks for procurement, 
contracting and partnership 
development? 

Note that a separate probe is being 
developed on ethical partnership 
working. 

This is being worked on – arrangements are being strengthened. Current developments on partnership 
working should ensure that the 
council's ethical framework for 
procurement, contracting and 
partnership development are up to 
date and incorporated in appropriate 
guidance. 

65) Is there an anti-bullying policy?  

How effective is it? 

An anti-bullying policy is in place within the council's HR manual. It 
is located on the intranet within the HR manual. 

As with other important documents in 
place within the Council, the Bullying 
policy could not be easily tracked 
down by searching on the council 
intranet. A policy does exist but its 
usefulness is limited by its 
inaccessibility.

P
a
g
e
 3

9



22 Ethical Governance Audit - Stage 1  Appendix 1 – Stage 1 detailed audit checklist 

City of York Council 

Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation 

66) Is there a whistleblowing policy?  

How effective is it? 

A copy of the whistleblowing policy is available within the 
Constitution. 

Policy is in place. 

67) What action does the council take to 
promote confidence in local 
democracy? 

There is an active public participation scheme within the Council 
and there are often public speakers for full council meetings and 
other meetings where the public may speak. 

The council has undertaken promotion work around service levels 
and improving user satisfaction. Schemes such as Housing 
Associations and Tenant Participation Surveys allow feedback to 
be received with regard to housing services for example. Council 
wide, there is a scheme whereby 2,000 residents are sent 
questionnaires three times a year to offer feedback on services 
and give advice on possible improvements that can be made. 

In addition to these initiatives, individual directorates undertake ad 
hoc work to invite feedback and recommendations on a regular 
basis via residents groups. 

No issues. 

68) What is the view of external 
stakeholders, partners and the 
community? Do they consider that 
the council upholds the highest 
standards of ethics and probity and 
has a high reputation for efficiency 
and integrity? 

Evidence is more anecdotal but suggests that the council is 
viewed mainly positively by external stakeholders. The occasions 
where standards are seen to slip receive a high public profile, and 
do tend to affect the public perception of the council. 

No major issues, but the public 
perception of the council is important - 
especially so in light of the recent 
drop in public satisfaction. 

P
a

g
e
 4

0



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

ANNEX 2 - Stage 1 detailed audit checklist and action plan 
 
 
Issue Audit findings Conclusion/recommendation CYC action 
3) If the council has town and 
parish local authorities, has at 
least one representative been 
appointed on to the SC? 

Only one member from the Parishes. 
Note: Strengthening the Parish arrangements 
could be achieved by either issue 3 or 4. 

Good practice is for more than one 
parish council member. 

This has been included in the 
issues to be considered as part of 
the review of the Constitution. 

4) Has the authority established 
a sub-committee to deal with 
parish issue? 

No sub committee has been established. Consider setting up a sub-committee to 
deal with Parish issues. 

This has been included in the 
issues to be considered as part of 
the review of the Constitution. 

12) What mechanisms does the 
SC have in place to publicise 
guidance/case rulings published 
by the Standards Board? 

The guidance on individual cases goes to the 
standards committee. 
Letters are sent to parish councils where 
guidance is clearly not understood. 

Arrangements seem adequate but 
there is scope to enhance by providing 
briefings to members/officers, and by 
setting up an area on the intranet to 
locate all standards related documents. 

The possibility of an intranet page 
is being investigated 

13) What role does the SC have 
in the Council? 
The ODPM guidance suggests 
that local authorities may 
arrange for their SC’s to 
exercise further functions 
according to local choice. 
These might include: 

• overview of internal and 
external audit; 

• Overview of the whistle 
blowing policy; 

• Overview of complaints 
handling and Ombudsman 
investigations; 

• Review the constitution, 
making sure it is designed 

Of the areas highlighted the SC is only 
responsible for protocols for member/officer 
relationships, and advising the Council on 
amendments required to the Constitution for 
ethical matters.  The following are all the 
responsibility of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

• Overview of IA and External Audit 

• Overview of whistle blowing policy 

• Assess reports from Audit Commission 

• Identify risk problems and factors 

• Develop procurement processes 
The Monitoring Officer has delegated 
authority to maintain an up to date 
Constitution. 
There are some areas which are not 
specifically covered in any Committee’s terms 

Consider if the SC should be 
responsible for: 

• having an overview of the handling 
of complaints and Ombudsman 
investigations; and 

• commenting on member’s 
allowances. 

 

This has been included in the 
issues to be considered as part of 
the review of the Constitution. 

P
a
g
e
 4

1



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

to reduce the opportunity for 
misconduct by ensuring 
decisions of the executive 
are taken after proper 
discussion, and making sure 
processes are accountable 
to members and the public; 

• Make sure that relations 
with outside bodies are 
managed properly; 

• Assess reports from the 
Ombudsman and Audit 
Commission; 

• Comment on members 
allowances; 

• Deal with protocols for 
members and council 
employees; 

• Identify risk problems and 
risk factors; and 
Develop procurement 
procedures. 

of reference within the Constitution: 

• Overview of complaints handling and 
Ombudsman investigations; and 

• Member allowances – though, again, this 
may be the responsibility of the full 
council. 

14) What does the SC do to 
promote and maintain a healthy 
ethical environment in the 
council and raise standards in 
the council? 

There is a member development programme 
to raise awareness.   
The Audit Commission have done some 
training to members.  
The SC have considered Nolan and 
subsequent reports. 

SC is proactive in its role but mainly 
focused on member’s standards. 
Communication of such matters around 
the council could be enhanced by 
publicising the: 

• council’s values; 

• complaints procedures; 

• whistle blowing policy; and  

• corporate policies. 
Publicising could be through posters, 
bulletins, the intranet and training. 

This has been included in the 
issues to be considered as part of 
the review of the Constitution.  In 
particular, the delegations will be 
amended to include receipt of 
reports from the Officer 
Governance Group on items in 
their workplan. 

16) What training have 
members received about the 

Training has been on hold for 12 months.  But 
there are two new member sessions planned 

Training plan needs to be delivered 
and needs to include the new codes as 

Training for members is to take 
place on 31 October 2007. 

P
a

g
e
 4

2



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

code?  Is it adequate? for after the election, and training will 
incorporate the new code. 

planned.  

17) What training have officers 
received about the code?  Is it 
adequate? 

When the new constitution came in sessions 
where done at all Directorate Management 
Team, plus Corporate Leadership Group and 
Corporate Management Team.  This covered 
the code, to some degree, and good decision-
making. 
The council are now waiting for the new 
Officer Code of Conduct to carry out more 
training. 

Training on the new officer code needs 
to be planned for delivery promptly 
after the new code becomes 
applicable. 

The new officer code is unlikely to 
appear for some considerable 
time. 

18) What does the SC do to 
help the public, external 
stakeholders and partners to 
understand the required 
standards of behaviour of 
members? 

There is a standing item on all council 
agendas on interests.  Co-opted members 
have been encouraged to sign up to the Code 
of conduct (which they have).  Arrangements 
for partners are less clear – work is ongoing 
around the governance and accountability of 
partnerships. 

It is not clear what role the standards 
committee has in publicising the 
required standards of behaviour of all 
concerned. 
The council needs to ensure that the 
required standards of behaviour are 
effectively communicated to the public, 
stakeholders and partners. 

The standards Committee annual 
report will go some way to 
addressing this point. 

20) How aware are members 
and officers about the role and 
work of the SC? 
 

The Monitoring Officer believes that members 
are very aware of the role and work of the SC 
as it directly relates to their behaviours and 
activities.  It is less clear how aware officers 
are of the work of the SC. 

It is possible that only senior officers 
are aware of the work of the SC. 
Consider council-wide publicity of the 
SC. 

The intranet will assist this. It is 
also proposed that a feature is 
included in a future edition of News 
in Depth. 

27) Has the council ensured that 
copies of the code are available 
at an office of the council for 
inspection by the public at all 
reasonable hours? 
Including parishes. 

The code was not available at the City 
Finance Centre.  At the Guildhall, a hard copy 
was not available to view.  On request, and 
after some time, an officer located the Code 
on the Internet to view. 
Although the Code is available on the council 
website it is within the Constitution and as 
such does not show up on any of the search 
facilities on the website. 

A hard copy of the code should be 
available for inspection by the public 
and staff in public offices should be 
aware of the council’s arrangements.  
The Code should be made more easily 
accessible on the council website. 

Hard copy of the Code is available 
for inspection by the public and 
staff in the Guildhall. 

28) Has the Council publicised 
through at least once local 

The Code was adopted in 2002.  No evidence 
has been retained to confirm that the council 

Evidence of the publicising of the 
code’s adoption could not be produced. 

Done 

P
a
g
e
 4

3



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

newspaper that the codes has 
been adopted and that it is 
available for inspection 
(including the address of the 
office)? 
Including parishes. 

did publicise its adoption. When the new Code is adopted by the 
Council, this should be publicised, 
along with the arrangements for public 
inspection of the code. 

29) Has the council sent a copy 
of its code to The Standards 
Board? 
Including parishes. 

The Code was adopted in 2002.  No evidence 
has been retained to confirm that the council 
did send the Code to the SBE.  It is 
reasonable to assume that the SBE would 
have reminded the council of the need to do 
this, if it had failed to do so. 

When the new Code is adopted by the 
council, this should be sent to the SBE 
as required. 

Done 

41) Has the SC given any 
consideration to how it will carry 
out its duties should it receive a 
referral back from the Standards 
Board, including: 

• the procedures for 
determining the outcome of 
cases referred back from 
the SBE for: 

- investigation; and 
- determination. 

• The role of the monitoring 
officer (giving advice. 
undertaking investigations); 

• Protocols and procedures 
for the monitoring officer 
when conducting 
investigations ensuring the 
right to natural justice is 
maintained, timeliness and 
time to respond is adhered 
to; 

• Avoidance of conflict of 

Evidence suggests that the SC has not given 
any formal consideration to the points raised, 
although training sessions on the process of 
investigations have been provided to SC 
members.  The current recruitment of a 
Deputy Monitoring Officer will give an 
opportunity to formalise the approach to 
referrals from the SBE. 

No formal consideration of the points 
raised has been made. 
The SC should formally consider, and 
adopt an approach to carry out its 
duties on receipt of a referral. 

To be put in the Standards 
Committee workplan. 
 P

a
g
e
 4

4



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

interest of committee 
members; and  

• Diversity, equalities, 
freedom of information, data 
protection. 

52) How proactive is the 
monitoring officer, about 
ensuring members comply with 
the code? 

The MO issues an annual reminder on 
registering interests.  Also sends all members 
correspondence in the pre-election period 
setting out what they can do in that period. 
An annual report is taken to full council from 
the SC. 

Consider setting up a system to 
monitor compliance with the new code 
of conduct. 

 

63) How clear are the council’s 
protocols on the following? 

• Member/officer protocols? 

• Use of authority premises? 

• Information technology 
(including the use of 
equipment at home)? 

• Telephone and fax? 

• Photocopying? 

• Use of stationery and 
headed writing paper? 

• Postage? 

• Use of authority transport? 

• Allowances and expenses? 

Member/Office protocol – page 295 of 
Constitution. 
Access to info – page 237 of Constitution. 
Electronic Communication 9IT, telephones 
etc) – Page 347 of Constitution. 
Allowances – Page 373 of Constitution. 
Documents were not located that relate to the 
use of council transport or the use of 
stationery items or postage equipment. 

Key documents are contained in the 
Constitution with the exception of 
policies for the use of stationery and 
postage and the use of council 
transport. 

This has been included in the 
issues to be considered as part of 
the review of the Constitution. 

64) How clear are the council’s 
ethical frameworks for 
procurement, contracting and 
partnership development? 
Note that a separate probe is 
being developed on ethical 
partnership working. 

This is being worked on – arrangements are 
being strengthened. 

Current developments on partnership 
working should ensure that the 
council’s ethical framework for 
procurement, contracting and 
partnership development are up to date 
and incorporated in appropriate 
guidance, 

 

65) Is there an anti-bullying 
policy? 
How effective is it? 

An anti-bullying policy is in place within the 
council’s HR manual.  It is located on the 
intranet within the HR manual. 

As with other important documents in 
place within the Council, the Bullying 
policy could not be easily tracked down 

 

P
a
g
e
 4

5



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00007747\annex2ethicalgovernanceaudit0.doc 

 

by searching on the council intranet.  A 
policy does exist but its usefulness is 
limited by its inaccessibility. 

 

P
a

g
e
 4

6


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Sixth Annual Assembly of Standards Committees
	5 Outcome of Complaint regarding Members of Upper and Nether Poppleton  Parish Councils
	6 Ethical Governance Audit
	Annex 1 Ethical Governance Audit
	Annex 2 Ethical Governance Audit


